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Introduction




  The Global War on Terrorism is still history in the making. Books continue to appear as journalists, analysts, and professional historians continue

  to grapple with the war’s causes, aims, and consequences, which are ever evolving. It is a problem, however, that most books on the subject approach the conflict from the point of view of the

  West. The primary battlefields of the war are far from our shores, in the Middle East and the wider Muslim world. Yet most accounts have tended to obscure or de-emphasize both the contribution of

  other governments to the fight against Al Qaeda and the way that the war is perceived and experienced by the Middle Easterners on the front line – including the terrorists themselves. This is

  particularly true of the way Saudi Arabia’s role in the conflict has been covered.




  In May 2003, Osama bin Laden’s first major regional franchise, which would go on to call itself Al Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula (AQAP), launched a terrorist insurrection inside Saudi

  Arabia. Largely overshadowed by the chaos that followed the invasion of Iraq, AQAP’s campaign to expel Westerners from the Kingdom, overthrow the House of Saud, and take control of the

  world’s largest oil reserves is an essential part of the history of Al Qaeda. No campaign was more ambitious. Had AQAP succeeded, the consequences for the entire world would have been

  momentous. That it did not had a huge impact on Al Qaeda’s future.




  During the course of the government’s protracted fightback, Saudi investigators inside the Ministry of Interior (better known as the MOI) amassed a huge amount of data on AQAP, based on

  their own intelligence gathering and interrogations of countless Al Qaeda members and terrorist suspects. Furthermore, in a series of dramatic raids on terrorist safe houses, they seized hundreds

  of hours of video footage shot by AQAP members themselves. Most of this footage consisted of rushes from the terrorists’ film shoots which had hit the cutting-room floor as they edited their

  propaganda videos. Much of it, however, was uncensored ‘home video’ material that revealed what life was like inside a Saudi Arabian safe house, on a surveillance mission, or before a

  suicide attack. AQAP had never expected anyone outside their own inner circle to see it.




  This book is based on that material. As much as possible, and without sacrificing objectivity, it tells the story of a little-known chapter of the war on terror from the point of view of its

  Middle Eastern protagonists: the Saudi Arabian security services and their mainly Saudi enemies inside Al Qaeda. From Osama bin Laden’s initial inspiration to launch an insurrection inside

  his homeland, to AQAP’s first flush of success, and all the way to the campaign’s eventual demise, Path of Blood is, as far as this is possible, the complete story of one of Al

  Qaeda’s most consequential regional campaigns.




  The project came about as the result of negotiations between the MOI and two prominent Saudi journalists – Abdulrahman Alrashed, managing director of Al Arabiya News Channel, and Adel

  Alabdulkarim, a documentary film producer – for access to the MOI’s archives. It took two years, but eventually the MOI agreed. They gave us a copy of all the video material to

  translate and study; arranged for several briefing sessions with members of the Mabahith, the Kingdom’s internal security service; made their written records available to us; and set up over

  fifty interviews with security officers who had faced Al Qaeda on the ground. This research in hand, we got to work writing. At the same time, from the video footage we produced a documentary

  television series for Al Arabiya, as well as a documentary feature film for worldwide distribution.




  Our aim with the book was to write a gripping narrative for the general reader. Because we have had access to the sort of detailed, inside information most other writers on the topic have not,

  we have been able to tell the story from multiple perspectives: Al Qaeda’s top leadership in Afghanistan, Bin Laden’s lieutenants in Saudi Arabia, AQAP recruits inside safe houses, the

  MOI’s core leadership and their American counterparts, Mabahith agents engaging in tradecraft throughout the Kingdom, policemen on the ground, and ordinary Saudi civilians. We hope thereby to

  shed new light on two subjects which, however much they appear in the news, are remarkably little understood: Al Qaeda and Saudi Arabia.




  In the popular imagination, Al Qaeda is roughly equivalent to nationalist, politically motivated terrorist groups like the IRA or the Tamil Tigers. However, whatever similarities it may share

  with such groups, Al Qaeda is very different: more inchoate, less disciplined, and wrapped in an impenetrable cloak of religious fundamentalism and apocalyptic utopianism. Another misconception is

  that it is a single, clearly defined organization with a rigid, hierarchical structure. Even in the run-up to 9/11, when Al Qaeda was more finely organized than at any other time, it was a mixed

  bag of characters, ambitions, strategies, and nationalities. This became even more true as global counterterrorism efforts improved after the fall of the Taliban. Al Qaeda lost its safe haven in

  Afghanistan and was forced to adapt, swiftly evolving into what it is today, a potent and widespread brand which clever and/or highly motivated Islamist militants (very few militants possess both

  qualities equally) employ to endow their movements with greater legitimacy. The different franchises invariably take on the colour of whatever region they are in, most of which are very different

  from post-Soviet Afghanistan, where Al Qaeda was born. The story of AQAP’s campaign in Saudi Arabia bridges the gap between these two phases of Bin Laden’s movement.




  A perhaps even greater misconception is that Al Qaeda fighters are like henchmen in a James Bond film, essentially faceless, cardboard cut-out villains. But in the case of AQAP’s recruits,

  they are more often than not closer to the very human characters in the comedy film Four Lions, young, ignorant, and impressionable. That they are in reality very different from the image

  they promote of themselves as single-minded guerrilla tacticians is borne out in the video footage. It reveals their laddish banter, their fooling around when bored, and their remarkable capacity

  to turn even the most chilling terrorist plot into farce. Yet the threat they posed was unquestionable: they threatened the stability of their own society, killed without remorse, and even tried to

  acquire a nuclear bomb. To capture these nuances, we have tried as much as possible to let the terrorists speak for themselves and have kept our own analysis to a minimum. By incorporating dialogue

  taken directly from the video footage, as well as excerpts from the vast amount of written propaganda they produced, all of which we have trawled through and translated, we hope to offer the reader

  a direct, unmediated encounter with these contradictory characters.




  As for Saudi Arabia, in the Western popular mind it is largely reducible to oil, a huge royal family, and a strict interpretation of Islamic law. Since the tragic events of 9/11, the Kingdom has

  also been associated with Islamist terror; indeed, for some the country has become essentially synonymous with Al Qaeda. But Saudi Arabia is an immense country, nearly nine times the size of the

  United Kingdom, and immensely complex, irreducible to any mere collection of stereotypes. A union of historically distinct provinces, as well as the focus of worldwide Muslim pilgrimage and home to

  millions of foreign workers, the Kingdom is much more multicultural than people realize. Westerners are quick to identify Saudi Arabia as a ‘problem country’, and while there are

  undoubtedly many aspects of the Kingdom which call out for reform, the line between what is problematic and what is simply different is a fine one, and easily blurred. Before reaching judgement,

  therefore, the critic must ensure that his analysis is based on an understanding of the country’s cultural and political context.




  As a so-called ‘absolute monarchy’, Saudi Arabia is conservative, authoritarian, and patriarchal. But unlike Iraq under Saddam Hussein or Ba’athist Syria, the Saudi monarchy is

  not a totalitarian dictatorship. Rather, its unwritten constitution is aimed at achieving balanced consensus between several different power centres, and so the king functions more like a mediator

  or a power broker than a dictator. Open debate is restricted and the press far from free, that is true. Nevertheless, on political, cultural, and religious questions there exists a discernible

  spectrum of Saudi voices – especially in private. Furthermore, genuine modernizers occupy prominent positions in the government, the media, and business. The religious establishment is

  certainly reactionary, but it also houses a variety of views, and although most of the culture remains well within the confines of the state-sanctioned form of Islam, called ‘Wahhabism’

  by its critics, that too is often misunderstood and is less monolithic than is commonly thought. Finally, it is noteworthy that the people are often more conservative than the government – or

  rather, parts of the government, since the royal family and the bureaucratic elite represent as wide a range of views as the rest of the country.




  This conservatism informed how the Kingdom experienced the twentieth century, a time of sweeping change that did not always run smoothly. Perhaps more so than any other people, Saudis have

  viewed change with great suspicion. For some, of course, change could not come fast enough; the majority, however, held more faithfully to the ways and beliefs of the past. Undoubtedly, in

  negotiating that change for its citizens, the government made some serious mistakes. Decisions taken with a view to short-term expediency ended up having unforeseen and often disastrous

  consequences – this book tells the story of one of them, which exploded into view at the beginning of the twenty-first century.




  In truth, Saudi Arabia remains a nation in transition. Especially over the last few years, important and subtle new changes have been introduced into the country. In particular there is a new

  trend towards greater openness throughout the government. This shift is an indication of the country’s growing sense of self-confidence, as it projects its power ever more assuredly and

  exerts its influence on the region and beyond. But it is also a sign of a change in leadership style. Prince Muhammad bin Nayef, currently interior minister and, during the war, head of the

  MOI’s counterterrorism programme, is one of very few second-generation princes to preside over a government ministry. Born when the Kingdom was already on the road to modernity, and educated

  in the West, Prince Muhammad has spearheaded several important reforms inside the MOI. Certainly without his express approval the access which this book needed would never have been granted. That

  it was is perhaps a sign of things to come, as the older generation of royals irrevocably gives way to the next.




  It is worth emphasizing just how open Prince Muhammad has been. The video archive, the Mabahith’s intelligence briefings, and the interviews we were granted with security officers –

  all of this is extremely irregular, and not only for a country as reticent as Saudi Arabia. Intelligence agencies very seldom go on the record, especially to discuss their recent activities, not

  even agencies belonging to states with freedom of information laws. The Mabahith’s openness speaks to the pride they feel in the way they successfully combated Al Qaeda. It is an important

  and tangible success story in a country not known for them. As incredible as it may sound, they imposed no editorial conditions upon us during the writing of it.




  A brief note on language. Arabic is a notoriously difficult language to translate. As the greater portion of our research material was gathered from home video archive and interviews with

  ordinary Saudis, we have chosen to reflect its quality of direct, informal speech in the translations. Written Arabic, on the other hand, is very different from the spoken dialects. It is extremely

  formal, and so when rendering it into English we have tried to capture that formality. Also, Saudi Arabians, and especially Al Qaeda members, often pepper their speech with expressions taken from

  the 1400-year-old Islamic tradition, and when discussing religious topics, the speaker will often switch into a more archaic rhetorical style. Our translations have endeavoured to reflect that as

  well.




  Because we wanted the book to be a good read, wherever appropriate we have included dialogue scenes drawn directly from the video material or from the reminiscences of interviewees. In real

  life, conversations meander and people often talk over each other; interviewees rely on reported speech whereas, on the page, direct speech is more dramatic; and Al Qaeda’s propaganda is

  notoriously verbose and obscure. Crafting a coherent scene, therefore, sometimes entailed editing for clarity, while preserving the original intent of the speaker or writer. A certain amount of

  plausible speculation has been necessary to give incidental colour to certain scenes that would otherwise be dry, but we have kept such speculation to a minimum.




  Finally, as with any foreign alphabet, the question of transliteration is thorny. Arabic’s difficulty in this regard is notorious. We wrote this book to be as accessible as possible to the

  ordinary reader. Therefore, instead of following the academic practice of using complex diacritical marks, we have adopted a less rigorous transliteration style, aiming to help the reader know how

  the words are pronounced without unduly tripping him up. The same applies to Arabic names. Whenever possible, we have used the form of transliteration preferred by the person himself. When it is

  not known, we have tried to render it in a straightforward way. And because Arabic names strike the non-Arab reader as exotic – which can have an unwelcome distancing effect – we

  include full names as infrequently as possible. New characters are introduced by their full names, but from then on are mostly referred to by their final surname (Arabs often have several). For the

  same reason, throughout the text we have avoided using the definite article ‘al-’ whenever possible.
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Dramatis Personae




  Note: The names of figures listed in the Dramatis Personae appear in bold at their first mention in the main text.




  Al Qaeda Central Command




   




  

    

      Saif al-Adel An Egyptian former Special Forces officer and explosives expert, Adel fought in Afghanistan from 1988 and took over as Al Qaeda’s military

      chief in 2001 after the death of Muhammad Atef (aka Abu Hafs al-Masri). Adel ordered that attacks be directed against Saudi Arabia, but his detention in Iran after leaving Afghanistan limited

      his leadership ability, and he was replaced by KHALID SHEIKH MUHAMMAD. His current whereabouts are unknown.




      Osama bin Laden (aliases The Sheikh, Abu Abdullah, among others) Born in Jeddah to a wealthy Yemeni family, Bin Laden fought against the Soviets in

      Afghanistan in the 1980s before founding Al Qaeda in 1988. Implicated in various attacks against Western targets, including the 1998 American embassy bombings and 9/11, Bin Laden fled

      Afghanistan in the wake of the US-led invasion in 2001 and went into hiding. He was killed in an American raid on his safe house in Abbottabad, Pakistan, on 2 May 2011.




      Khalid Sheikh Muhammad (alias Mukhtar, ‘the Chosen One’) Known as KSM in security circles, Khalid Sheikh Muhammad joined the jihad in

      Afghanistan in the late 1980s and met OSAMA BIN LADEN for the first time in the mid-1990s. He arranged financing for the 1993 World Trade Center

      attack and has been identified as the chief architect of 9/11. KSM was chosen to head Al Qaeda military operations outside Afghanistan and Pakistan in late 2001, but was captured on 1 March

      2003 by Pakistani and American intelligence forces and after spending several years in CIA ‘black sites’ was transferred to Guantánamo Bay, where, as of the time of writing,

      he awaits prosecution.


    


  




  Al Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula (AQAP)




   




  

    

      Abu Ayub Born Faisal al-Dukhayyel, Abu Ayub trained at Camp Farouq in Afghanistan in early 2001. He was detained en route to Chechnya and handed over to Saudi

      authorities. He returned to Afghanistan in August 2001 and fought against US-led forces. A member of ABDULAZIZ AL-MUQRIN’s Shura Council,

      Abu Ayub issued the order for his Riyadh cell to kidnap the American PAUL MARSHALL JOHNSON, and filmed the

      hostage’s interrogation and death. He was shot, along with Muqrin, by the security forces on 18 June 2004. His uncle AHMAD AL-DUKHAYYEL and

      brother Bandar al-Dukhayyel were also affiliated with AQAP.




      Isa al-Awshen A prominent fundraiser during the Second Chechen War, Awshen left Saudi Arabia for Afghanistan after 9/11. He never made it, however, and was

      detained on his return journey by the CIA, who handed him over to the Saudis. Released after a short time in prison, Awshen continued YUSUF AL-AYIRI’s media and propaganda work after the latter’s death in mid-2003, founding and editing Voice of Jihad and creating propaganda videos such as Badr of

      Riyadh. Awshen died in the King Fahd neighbourhood raid in July 2004.




      Yusuf al-Ayiri (alias Al-Battar, ‘the Sabre’) A veteran jihadist who fought in Afghanistan and Somalia and a prominent fundraiser for the

      jihad in the Balkans and Chechnya, Ayiri became a prolific writer for the jihadist cause, establishing the Centre for Islamic Studies and Research through which many of his articles were

      published. In July 2000, OSAMA BIN LADEN ordered Ayiri to lay the groundwork for what became AQAP. He was killed on 30 May 2003 in a shootout

      with security forces in the desert.




      Nimr al-Baqami Baqami was involved in surveillance for the Muhaya bombing, but is best known as a member of the Jerusalem Squadron who carried out the Khobar

      massacre in May 2004. He was wounded when fleeing the scene and arrested. His fellow AQAP members believed him to be dead.




      Turki al-Dandani (alias Hamza the Martyr) Dandani travelled to Afghanistan in late 2000, trained at Camp Farouq and fought against the US-led

      invasion. He was subsequently appointed a network commander in KHALID AL-HAJJ’s Shura Council, heading the cell that carried out the Riyadh

      compound bombings in May 2003. Dandani and a group of his associates committed suicide in a mosque after a raid by the MOI on a safe house in Suwayr on 3 July 2003.




      Ahmad al-Dukhayyel Uncle to Abu Ayub and Bandar al-Dukhayyel. An extremist preacher, Ahmad was, along with ABDULLAH AL-RASHOUD, present in November 2002 at the confrontation between religious students and the security forces at the General Presidency of Islamic Research and Fatwas in Riyadh. He grew

      close to AQAP and headed a cell in Mecca. Ahmad was killed in a raid on 28 June 2003.




      Faisal al-Dukhayyel See ABU AYUB.




      Ali al-Faqasi (alias Abu Bakr al-Azdi) After fighting in Afghanistan in the late 1990s and early 2000s, Faqasi was nominated as leader of AQAP after

      ABDUL RAHIM AL-NASHIRI’s arrest in November 2002 but was passed over in favour of KHALID

      AL-HAJJ by OSAMA BIN LADEN. Faqasi was the leader of the Organization’s Hijazi network and entered into

      negotiations to purchase a nuclear device from Russian arms smugglers. He escaped a raid on a safe house in Medina in late May 2003 disguised as a woman and surrendered a few weeks later on 26

      June 2003.




      Khalid al-Farraj Farraj was the leader of an AQAP cell operating in Riyadh. In late January 2004, his father revealed his whereabouts to the security forces

      and he was arrested by the Mabahith. ABU AYUB launched an attempt to free him with other members of the cell, and several security officers and

      Farraj’s father were killed. The event led Farraj to recant, and he became a valuable source of information for the MOI. Farraj’s brother, MISHAAL

      AL-FARRAJ, was selected as a suicide bomber for Operation Volcano and his cousin, Fahd al-Farraj, was a suicide bomber in the Washm Street bombing.




      Mishaal al-Farraj Brother of KHALID AL-FARRAJ, Mishaal was nineteen when he was chosen as a suicide bomber for

      ABDULAZIZ AL-MUQRIN’s Operation Volcano, learning to drive a truck in preparation for the attack. Part of the team who kidnapped

      PAUL MARSHALL JOHNSON in June 2004, Farraj was arrested in the King Fahd neighbourhood raid on 20 July 2004.




      Khalid al-Hajj (alias Abu Hazim al-Sha’ir) Head of Al Qaeda’s operations within Saudi Arabia from late 2002 to mid-2003, Hajj fought in

      Afghanistan in the early 1990s and became OSAMA BIN LADEN’s personal bodyguard. Hajj went into hiding after the Riyadh compound bombings

      and died in an MOI ambush in Riyadh on 15 March 2004.




      Yunus al-Hayari A Moroccan jihadist born in 1968, Hayari fought in Bosnia in the mid-1990s and, after travelling to Mecca for Hajj in February 2001, decided to

      stay in Saudi Arabia. He moved to Riyadh with his wife and daughter. There he met fellow countryman KARIM AL-MEJJATI and joined AQAP. After

      SAUD AL-QATAYNI’s death at the battle of Rass, Hayari replaced him as AQAP leader, a position he held for only three months. Hayari was

      killed in a shootout with Riaydh police on 3 July 2005.




      Fahd al-Juwayr A member of the extensive Farraj family, Juwayr spent a month and a half in Afghanistan. His involvement with AQAP began in 2004 when he took

      part in preparations for ABDULAZIZ AL-MUQRIN’s Operation Volcano – in which he was recorded learning to drive a truck – and was

      one of the team who kidnapped PAUL MARSHALL JOHNSON. The death of SAUD AL-QATAYNI in April 2005 led Juwayr to pledge allegiance to a new leader, YUNUS AL-HAYARI, but Hayari’s death ten weeks later saw

      Juwayr take on the position. He led the attack on the Abqaiq oil refinery on 24 February 2006 and was killed in a raid three days later.




      Karim al-Mejjati A Moroccan jihadist born to an affluent family in Casablanca in 1967, Mejjati became radicalized in the early 1990s and fought in the Bosnian

      jihad. Shortly before 9/11, he moved to Afghanistan with his family, and in July 2002 moved again, this time to Riyadh. Shortly afterwards he met fellow countryman YUNUS

      AL-HAYARI and joined what would become AQAP. A close ally of SAUD AL-QATAYNI, Mejjati became one of AQAP’s

      top operatives. He was killed along with his 11-year-old son Adam in the battle of Rass on 5 April 2005.




      Abdulaziz al-Muqrin (alias Abu Hajer) Leader of AQAP from mid-2003 until his death in June 2004. Muqrin fought in Afghanistan in the late 1980s and

      early 1990s, before participating in jihad in Algeria, Morocco, Bosnia, and Somalia. Imprisoned in Ethiopia and Saudi Arabia, he returned to Afghanistan in 2001 and took charge of military

      operations inside the Kingdom in June 2002. After KHALID AL-HAJJ went into hiding in mid-2003, Muqrin became the most prominent member of AQAP,

      orchestrating attacks such as the Muhaya and Washm Street bombings, as well as the Khobar massacre and the kidnapping of PAUL MARSHALL

      JOHNSON. He died in a confrontation with the security forces in Riyadh on 18 June 2004.




      Turki al-Mutayri (alias Fawaz al-Nashimi) A member of ABU AYUB’s cell in Riyadh, Mutayri

      travelled to Afghanistan six months before 9/11, where he met OSAMA BIN LADEN and fought against the US-led invasion. Mutayri met ABDULAZIZ AL-MUQRIN at Camp Farouq; the two grew close and he became Muqrin’s assistant back in the Kingdom. Present at the attempt to rescue

      KHALID AL-FARRAJ in January 2004 and involved in preparations for Operation Volcano, Mutayri rose to notoriety when he headed the Jerusalem

      Squadron in the Khobar massacre of May 2004. He was killed along with Muqrin and ABU AYUB in a confrontation with the security forces on 18 June

      2004.




      Abdul Rahim al-Nashiri (alias Abu Bilal, among others) Head of Al Qaeda operations across the Arabian Peninsula from late 2001 until his arrest on 8

      November 2002 by members of the CIA in the UAE. Nashiri fought in Chechnya, Tajikistan, and Afghanistan in the early 1990s and orchestrated the attacks against the USS Cole in October

      2000 and the Limburg oil tanker two years later.




      Sultan Bijad al-Otaybi Born in December 1976, Sultan Bijad grew up in Riyadh and became one of the most prominent ‘third-generation’ AQAP members,

      i.e. those jihadists who did not fight in the anti-Soviet jihad or the ones that followed it in the 1990s and 2000s. Originally tapped for a suicide mission, he rose through the ranks and

      became one of SAUD AL-QATAYNI’s deputies in Riyadh. He helped plan the bombing of the MOI headquarters in Riyadh on 29 December 2004, and

      was killed later that evening in the raid on the Taawun safe house.




      Saleh al-Oufi Fired from his post as a prison sergeant in the late 1980s, Oufi fought in Afghanistan in the early 1990s, then in Bosnia and Chechnya. He

      returned to Afghanistan to fight against US-led forces in 2001. A member of ABDULAZIZ AL-MUQRIN’s Shura Council, Oufi was proclaimed leader

      of AQAP after Muqrin’s death, but his authority was limited to cells in the Hijaz. Oufi was killed in Medina by the Saudi security forces on 18 August 2005.




      Sultan al-Qahtani (alias Zubayr al-Rimi) Qahtani travelled to Afghanistan in September 2002, having told his family that he would be going on the

      Hajj. He became ALI AL-FAQASI’s deputy in the Hijaz, and took control of the cell after Faqasi’s surrender in June 2003. He was

      killed in a fierce firefight between militants and the security forces in an apartment block attached to a hospital in Jazan on 23 September 2003.




      Saud al-Qatayni Qatayni fought in Afghanistan in the 1980s and early 1990s but did not fight against the US-led invasion in 2001. A member of ABDULAZIZ AL-MUQRIN’s Shura Council from mid-2003, Qatayni led a group of cells that operated out of Najd, and became the leader of the Najd network

      after Muqrin’s death in June 2004. Qatayni was killed in the battle of Rass between 3 and 5 April 2005.




      Abdullah al-Rashoud A radical preacher from south-central Saudi Arabia, born in 1967, Rashoud joined AQAP after government clerics at the General Presidency of

      Scholarly Research and Fatwas in Riyadh rejected a list of nine grievances which he and eighty other opposition clerics presented to them on 2 November 2002. He became AQAP’s most

      prominent ideologue but, feeling the pressure from the MOI, left the Kingdom and joined Al Qaeda in Iraq, where he was killed by an American air strike in June 2005.




      Rakan al-Saikhan Saikhan assisted ABDUL RAHIM AL-NASHIRI in planning the attacks on the

      USS Cole in October 2000, and was put in charge of smuggling weapons and equipment into the Kingdom from Yemen. Number two in the MOI’s List of Twenty-Six in December 2003,

      Saikhan was mortally wounded in a raid on 13 April 2004. He escaped, but his body was found buried in the desert in July of the same year.




      Takfeeri Troika The sobriquet of Nasr al-Fahd, Ali al-Khudayr, and Ahmad al-Khalidi, prominent Saudi extremist clerics affiliated to Al Qaeda. Associated with

      the takfeerist Shuaybi school, named after the blind cleric Sheikh Hamud al-Shuaybi, all three went into hiding in early March 2003. In late May of that year they were arrested in Medina and by

      autumn 2003 had been persuaded to publicly recant their takfeerist beliefs.


    


  




  House of Saud




   




  

    

      Crown Prince Abdullah bin Abdulaziz, later king. Born in 1924 in Riyadh, Abdullah was the tenth of the thirty-six official sons of King Abdulaziz.

      KING FAHD BIN ABDULAZIZ named Abdullah crown prince in 1982 and, after the king’s stroke in 1995, Abdullah became

      de facto ruler. After Fahd’s death in 2005, Abdullah became king. Abdullah’s relationship with his half-brother PRINCE NAYEF

      BIN ABDULAZIZ, the interior minister, was reportedly somewhat strained.




      Prince Bandar bin Sultan Born in the Saudi city of Ta’if in 1949, Prince Bandar graduated from the British Royal Air Force College at Cranwell in 1968

      and went on to be commissioned as a second lieutenant in the Saudi Air Force. He was appointed ambassador to the United States in 1983. In his twenty-two years as ambassador, Prince Bandar

      formed close relationships with a number of leaders, including presidents George H.W. Bush and George W. Bush.




      King Fahd bin Abdulaziz Born in 1921 in Riyadh, King Fahd was the eighth son of King Abdulaziz. One of seven sons born to a princess from the Sudayri family

      (known as the Sudayri Seven), he was named interior minister in 1962 and succeeded to the throne in 1982. King Fahd suffered a serious stroke in 1995, and his half-brother CROWN PRINCE ABDULLAH BIN ABDULAZIZ became de facto ruler. He died at the age of 84 on 1 August

      2005.




      Prince Muhammad bin Nayef Born in Jeddah in 1959, Prince Muhammad bin Nayef is the second son of PRINCE NAYEF

      BIN ABDULAZIZ. Prince Muhammad completed a BA in political science in 1981 at Lewis and Clark University in Portland, Oregon, and undertook a three-year security

      course at the FBI in 1985. He worked in the private sector, then trained with Scotland Yard anti-terrorism units between 1992 and 1994 before working in the private sector. He became assistant

      interior minister for security affairs in 1999 and took charge of the Kingdom’s counterterrorism programme. Muhammad was made interior minister in 2012.




      Prince Nayef bin Abdulaziz Born in 1934, Prince Nayef was the twenty-third son of King Abdulaziz and half-brother to CROWN

      PRINCE ABDULLAH BIN ABDULAZIZ. After serving as governor of various provinces, he became interior minister in 1975, and

      would serve for nearly thirty-seven years in this position. Appointed crown prince in 2011, he died in June 2012. His son PRINCE MUHAMMAD BIN

      NAYEF was in charge of the Kingdom’s counterterrorism campaign.


    


  




  Westerners




   




  

    

      Sir Sherard Cowper-Coles Cowper-Coles entered the British diplomatic service in 1977. He served in posts throughout the world, including Cairo and Tel Aviv,

      and was ambassador to Saudi Arabia from 2003 to 2006. He was later ambassador to Afghanistan.




      Paul Marshall Johnson, Jr Born in New Jersey in 1955, Johnson trained as an aviation engineer in the US Air Force and, after leaving the service, went to work

      with AEC in Riyadh. On 12 June 2004, he was kidnapped by AQAP and held as a hostage for six days. On 18 June he was killed by his captors.




      Robert Jordan A lawyer close to the Bush family, Jordan served as American ambassador to Saudi Arabia between 2001 and 2003.




      James Oberwetter Previously a press secretary to then-Congressman George H.W. Bush, Oberwetter succeeded ROBERT JORDAN as ambassador to Saudi Arabia, a post he held until 2006.




      George Tenet The CIA’s Director of Central Intelligence from 1997 to 2004.




      Frances Townsend Townsend served in the administration of George W. Bush, first as deputy national security advisor for combating terrorism and then as

      homeland security advisor. She first travelled to Saudi Arabia in August 2003 to kick-start negotiations aimed at curtailing financing for terrorist groups that originated in the Kingdom, and

      grew to be a close friend and colleague of PRINCE MUHAMMAD BIN NAYEF.
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      Several hundred hours’ worth of video footage shot by Al Qaeda members was seized by the Saudi government over the course of the campaign. Much of

      what appears in this narrative is based on those tapes.


    


  




  





  
Prologue:
The Head in the Freezer




  Riyadh, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 20 July 2004, 11:30 p.m.




  As the door of the air-conditioned armoured van slid open, the Special Forces officers inside felt a thick blast of hot air suck the cool away. The

  temperature wouldn’t drop below 30 degrees Celsius that night. What’s more, they were wearing body armour and carrying assault rifles.




  The situation in Saudi Arabia’s capital city had grown particularly tense over the last few weeks. A number of Westerners had been murdered while working at their desks, getting into cars,

  or waiting at traffic lights. One of them, Paul Marshall Johnson, had been kidnapped, and the horror of his story made headlines across the world. An American military contractor, Johnson was

  driving home when men in security officers’ uniforms stopped him at a checkpoint and ordered him out of his car. When he complied, they rushed at him and stabbed a hypodermic needle

  containing a strong sedative into his arm, then bundled him into the back of their truck.




  Johnson’s kidnappers were members of an international terrorist organization so notorious it was referred to by the Saudi security services simply as ‘the Organization’. Not

  long after his disappearance, video images of Johnson bound and gagged started circulating on the Internet. The Organization demanded that the Saudi authorities release Al

  Qaeda prisoners in exchange for the American. But the government refused to comply. Soon after the deadline, a gruesome film of his beheading was released online. His body had still not been

  found.




  It had been fourteen months since Osama bin Laden brought the war on terror to the Kingdom, and the government’s security apparatus was in full swing. Five days ago, agents had followed a

  van they were monitoring to a house in a residential street in north Riyadh. Intelligence analysts had determined that the van was linked to a safe house belonging to a key Al Qaeda member called

  Isa al-Awshen. He was on the Organization’s legal committee, which released fatwas arguing that Al Qaeda’s actions were in accordance with Sharia law, and was in charge of its media

  operation in the Kingdom, publishing videos and online books and maintaining a secure web presence. He was not known for heavy combat.




  Even so, the Special Forces were called in. The security services had learnt by now that you never could be too careful. They were to take suspects alive if possible. The forward assault team

  checked their weapons and switched off their mobile phones. In single file, they set off silently down the street towards the house. Two armoured cars equipped with MG3 machine guns followed them

  at walking pace. Another team had taken up positions on the neighbouring streets, to act as a cordon in case the suspects tried to flee.




  As they proceeded down the narrow street, it was difficult for the soldiers to form a clear idea of their target. A row of typical detached two-storey houses stood eerily quiet in the gloom,

  each house surrounded by a high perimeter wall to protect the sacred domestic space from prying eyes. Once the assault vehicles took up their positions on either side of the house, an officer

  raised a megaphone to his lips. ‘Turn yourselves in!’ His amplified voice was met with silence. ‘One by one! You have five minutes to turn yourselves

  in!’ There was no response. It was not the sort of mission they had envisioned when they signed up. In service to king and country, the soldiers were now fighting their own countrymen on

  their own streets.




  Then, from the roof came a series of loud bangs and flashes of light. Two parked cars exploded. The officers looked up and watched as another rocket-propelled grenade (RPG) flew from the roof.

  It struck the neighbourhood’s electricity substation and everything went dark, save the light from the flaming cars. The soldiers hesitated, shocked at their enemy’s lethal

  professionalism. A safe house so well defended must be of vital importance to the Organization, and those inside had clearly been trained in urban warfare.




  A call was raised for floodlights to be erected. Using the armoured cars for cover, the Special Forces returned fire. The external wall was soon pockmarked with bullet holes; white plaster dust

  merged with the black smoke from the burning cars. However, the street was too narrow, and the armoured car was too close for its gunner to get a clear shot at the roof. ‘Hey, move back, move

  back!’ an officer shouted.




  ‘There’s no room,’ the gunner replied. ‘Anyway, I can’t see them!’




  ‘Come down from there,’ the officer ordered. As the gunner climbed down, a volley of bullets hit the vehicle and sparks flashed off the armour plating. The officer slid up inside the

  gun tower. He noticed that the front gate was now open. Three armed men were taking turns running out, firing a round, and running back. The officer signalled to the gunner in the other armoured

  car to aim for the gate. ‘Cover the windows and the roof,’ he called down to the men on the ground.




  The two MG3s peppered the gate with bullets. Between bursts of gunfire from the Special Forces, the jihadists fired back. The soldiers started throwing grenades over the external wall into the narrow front yard; the militants tossed pipe bombs into the street. One of them ran out and began to fire just as one of his comrades’ bombs blew up a civilian car parked

  beside him. The car exploded and the militant was engulfed by the flames. He dropped to his knees and, fearing he might be wearing a suicide belt, the snipers shot him dead. Before long, his corpse

  was little more than a heap of embers.




  There was a lull. The Special Forces waited a few minutes, but nothing happened. Then, the electronic garage door began to inch upward. The soldiers readied their guns. Beyond the creaking door,

  all was darkness. Then a small saloon burst out. Its three passengers sprayed the soldiers with bullets and tossed pipe bombs out of the open windows. Shrapnel sliced through the air.




  The saloon did not stand a chance against the Special Forces’ firepower. Its engine exploded and the vehicle was engulfed in flame. Throwing the doors open, the passengers flung themselves

  to the ground. One of them, a young man with wild curly black hair who looked not yet twenty, rolled around on the ground trying to put out the flames covering his legs. The other two collapsed and

  lay still, bleeding and badly wounded.




  Meanwhile, the sound of gunfire and the screeching of tyres could be heard from the next street. A report came in that an SUV full of gunmen had crashed through the back neighbour’s garage

  door, and though the soldiers manning the cordon had fired on them and attempted a pursuit, the suspects had got away. The soldiers in front realized that all the carnage had been a diversion to

  allow an escape out the back. Terrorists had successfully employed this tactic against them several times before, but the Special Forces had since received new counterterrorism training. This sort

  of screw-up wasn’t supposed to be happening any more.




  For now, they had to make sure that the house was empty. A group of soldiers gathered together and, keeping in tight formation, made their way forward. They peered round

  the open gate. Motioning wordlessly to each other, they entered the outer yard and mounted the steps leading up to the front door. They nudged it open. In the torchlight, they could see a path of

  blood leading from the door into a larger room to the left. They followed it into the house. Inside an ordinary sitting room, a good-looking young man lay on the ground, clutching his abdomen. It

  was covered in blood, the bright red a striking contrast to his immaculate white Saudi thobe.




  An officer was told to stay with the wounded man, while the rest of the team continued their sweep. No one else was on the ground floor. Along the walls lay ammunition boxes carrying Kalashnikov

  rounds and stacks of handmade pipe bombs, and one room had been set up as a makeshift infirmary, complete with wheeled stretcher and hospital bed. There was nothing remarkable about the kitchen;

  the forensics experts would give it a more thorough going-over later. Two men were assigned to clear the stairs, which were littered with pipe bombs – possibly booby-trapped.




  They ascended the steps almost on tiptoe. First they explored what looked like an office of some sort – several computers, documents strewn about, video equipment – but found no one.

  At the other end of the corridor was a closed door. The soldier in front paused at the door and listened. He could hear muffled sounds. The soldier turned to his comrades and mouthed silently that

  there was at least one person in the room. They prepared to storm it.




  ‘Do not enter!’ a woman’s voice called out. ‘We are women!’




  The soldiers relaxed, but only slightly. The Organization had proved itself quite capable of putting women into combat.




  ‘Whose women?’ the front man asked.




  There was a moment’s silence, then:




  ‘I am the wife of Saleh al-Oufi. I am here with two daughters, and a baby. Please don’t hurt us.’




  Saleh al-Oufi was a top Al Qaeda commander and one of the Kingdom’s most wanted men. ‘Where is your husband?’




  ‘I don’t know. He told us to stay here, then he left.’




  They had been within reach of Oufi, but he had got away. Someone would have to tell their commanding officer the bad news. That the jihadist had fled and left his wife and children behind

  disgusted the soldiers, but they had a more immediate problem. They wanted to question his wife, but also wanted to give her the respect she deserved as a woman.




  ‘A special unit is on the way to take care of you,’ said the officer. ‘Don’t worry. We will give you time to get ready.’




  There was a brief pause. ‘All right, we’ll come out,’ she said. ‘But please do not hurt us. We don’t know anything.’ The security services had a reputation

  among jihadists – and among the populace at large – for brutality.




  Through the door, they pushed her for more information. ‘I know nothing. He and his friends, they would meet downstairs. The ground floor was for gatherings, but we never went down there.

  He held religious discussions and things like that. But we were always up here.’




  One soldier was left to guard the door, while the rest of the team moved on to inspect the roof. The team leader radioed down. ‘The area is clear and the house is safe.’




  The forensics team moved in. Enlisting members of the Special Forces and the police to help them, they spread out through the building, pulling everything out of drawers, cupboards, dressers,

  and wardrobes, upturning sofas, slicing open mattresses and sorting everything they found into neat piles and rows. The wounded man whom the raiding party found in the sitting room had not made it.

  Two officers gently lifted his body and laid it out on a sofa.




  Out in front, the three surviving Al Qaeda suspects were being dealt with. The officer in charge would later describe the scene. ‘One of the three we captured was bleeding profusely, so

  we laid him on a stretcher to carry him to where the ambulances were waiting. He said, “What are you going to do with us? We don’t want you here! We have come to

  purify the Arabian Peninsula!” It was weird, because he was in great pain, blood was pouring from him, and yet he was laughing. And he wouldn’t say the name of our country, he

  wouldn’t say “Saudi Arabia”, he would only say “the Arabian Peninsula”.’




  A forensics cameraman was filming the other two captured militants, who had been handcuffed in an ambulance.




  ‘So what exactly is your name?’ an officer asked one of them.




  ‘I told you, with them my name is Majed.’




  ‘But your real name is Ahmed, huh?’




  ‘Hamed. Hamed al-Harbi. Hamed Shadeed al-Harbi.’




  ‘And him?’ the officer asked, indicating the other one.




  ‘That skinny guy? Yeah, I know him, but his real name, I’ve no idea.’




  ‘Okay, who was with you in the house?’




  ‘I can’t remember. Um, there was Abu Mahmoud, and another guy called Faddhal, someone called Salem, someone called, oh I don’t know, Tameer or maybe Tammam . . .’




  The medic closed the ambulance door. The other detainee groaned. ‘Give me some water! I need water!’




  ‘I can’t,’ a medic replied. ‘You are haemorrhaging. Giving you water now would kill you.’




  The captured militant looked on the verge of fainting. With great effort, he pushed the medic away. ‘We are of the people of tawheed, of monotheism!’




  ‘We all are, we all are,’ the medic tutted.




  By now the team covering the side street had reported back. A group of seven jihadists – including Oufi – had scaled the back garden wall and, holding their neighbour at gunpoint,

  had taken the keys to his SUV, stormed the cordon, and got away.




  A forensics expert in the garden scraped charred samples from the burnt corpse. DNA tests would later reveal that it was the body of Isa al-Awshen, whom the soldiers had

  originally been sent to arrest. Meanwhile, inside the house, the sheer amount of weaponry was staggering: pistols, rifles, and Kalashnikovs, including one plated in gold. Piles of banknotes

  amounting to 300,000 riyals (roughly £53,000) had been laid out neatly, as had ID cards and passports featuring Oufi under several different pseudonyms. Investigators upstairs in the office

  sorted through the equipment. The office had been Awshen’s, and it was beginning to dawn on them that they had uncovered a treasure trove of media material, including a hundred or so MiniDV

  tapes. One of them featured the now bullet-ridden Awshen happily recording a talk on the jihad in Chechnya.




  ‘So, is the mic on?’ he asked the cameraman.




  ‘Yes, inshallah.’




  Awshen sat straight. ‘The truth is . . . the issue is . . . ahem . . .’




  ‘Wait, brother,’ the cameraman interrupted. ‘Could you lower your headscarf? Bring the brim closer to your eyebrows.’




  ‘Like this?’




  ‘Yes, very fashionable, ha ha! But don’t go thinking you’re a Bin Laden or something.’




  ‘So where do I look?’ Awshen asked. ‘Here? In this direction?’




  ‘Just look straight in front of you. Yes, like that.’




  Awshen collected himself. ‘I am going to recite. It is a dialogue between a mujahid and one of his critics.’ Clearing his throat, he began speaking in formal Arabic:




  

    

      They asked me, why did you leave us?




      I said, Because I am free,




      And because I heard the lament of the free.




      I heard the wailing of Muslim women




      Grieving for their little ones




      Ripped apart by traitors’ shells.




      I saw a venerable old man




      With bent back, forced to raise his palms




      And beg from unrighteous tyrants . . .


    


  





  The poem was long. The picture it painted of Muslims was designed to inspire pity and anger. Muslims languish downtrodden, under the heel of apostate rulers in the pay of the

  enemy. From Kashmir to Chechnya to Palestine, Muslims are victims.




  

    

      These scenes make me sad




      They rouse my pride and I ask Muslims:




      Where is your fervour?




      For the enemy has drawn close.




      Why do you not rise up to crush the attacker




      And erase the humiliation in our hearts?


    


  





  Then he stopped. ‘Look, the issue is simple,’ he continued, mimicking a liberal television preacher. ‘We just have to learn to live with the Americans. God

  has sent them to us. After all, everything happens by divine decree, and do you dare interfere with what God has ordained? We must have an “Islam of today”, a modern Islam, an Islam of

  tolerance and peace. And what else? Of misery! Yes, an Islam of misery!’ He was not laughing. ‘Enough!’ He waved his arm and the video cut out.




  Men began packing up the tapes as well as the other equipment and documents. This incredible intelligence haul would prove to be one of the largest of its kind anywhere: hundreds of hours of

  footage, many gigabytes of data, photographs, maps, and plans. Because of these discoveries, that evening’s raid would become known as the raid that ‘broke the back of Al Qaeda in Saudi

  Arabia’.1




  There was a commotion coming from the kitchen. A group of soldiers and investigators were gathered there, craning their necks to catch a glimpse of something laid out on the counter. One of the

  soldiers was particularly excited.




  ‘I’d been going through the kitchen when I felt thirsty, so I opened the fridge. Maybe there was some cold water inside, I thought. There was nothing, just

  some leftovers, ketchup and cola and stuff. So I opened the freezer. You never know, there might have been something there. But weirdly, all there was inside was a big box of tea. “Tea in the

  freezer?” I thought. “That’s odd.” So I took it out. It contained a bag, and when I shook the box I could tell there was something hard and round inside. I thought it might

  be a football. But by God, what I found when I opened the bag . . . You don’t expect to see such things. I mean, it’s all in a day’s work, but no one wants to see something like

  that.’




  On the counter, slightly bruised and covered in frost, lay the head of Paul Marshall Johnson.




  





  
1




  Blood Moon Rising




  Kandahar, southern Afghanistan, four years earlier




  On 16 July 2000, a lunar eclipse was seen rising over Kandahar. A reddish shadow gradually engulfed the moon, forming a circle as if of dried blood

  in the twilight sky. God was once again doing remarkable things in Afghanistan, and the eclipse added to the apocalyptic mood. Eclipses are sent by God, or so the Prophet Muhammad taught, to remind

  the faithful of the Day of Judgement.




  Whereas the rest of the Muslim world languished in ignorance of the True Path, the Taliban under its leader Mullah Omar was establishing what was, in the minds of many, the only truly Islamic

  state on earth. Its unwritten, divinely sanctioned constitution could not be simpler. Faith in God’s unity, fidelity to the Sharia, and unquestioning obedience to the Commander of the

  Faithful, as Mullah Omar styled himself: these were what would bring justice and order to Afghanistan after so many decades of war and unbelief.




  But the Taliban had enemies. The international community, under the sway of America’s godless liberalism, had denounced them and imposed economic sanctions on the country. The Northern Alliance – a federation of opium-smuggling multi-ethnic warlords led by a hero of the anti-Soviet resistance, Ahmad Shah Massoud – stubbornly refused to submit to

  the Taliban’s divinely sanctioned rule. The Northern Alliance controlled only fifteen per cent of the country, but they were strong and had scored some recent successes.




  To support the Taliban in their ongoing struggle, hundreds of young Arab men with a thirst for jihad were flocking to training camps in the southeast. There they learned the arts of war, but

  more importantly, they were experiencing a Muslim fellowship they had never experienced before. Along with tens of thousands of ethnic Pashtuns from Pakistan who – with Islamabad’s

  collusion – had also joined the fight, these Arab mujahideen felt themselves to be the holy vanguard of a sweeping resurgence. From Afghanistan they were destined to return to their own

  benighted lands, to fight oppression and help usher in a new Islamic Golden Age.




  It was a blessed time, a recapitulation of the first years of Islam. Just as the Prophet, having been banished from his home city of Mecca, gathered his forces in Medina and emerged triumphant

  over his pagan enemies, so would the mujahideen emerge from their self-imposed banishment in Afghanistan and steer the Arab heartlands back to the True Path. The yoke of American and Israeli

  domination would be cast off and puppet governments – apostates all – would be toppled. The lions of Islam would roar and the earth would resound with the Judgement of Almighty God.




  At least, that is what Yusuf al-Ayiri wanted his fellow Saudis back home to believe.




  Ayiri was in Kandahar, it is believed, at Osama bin Laden’s request. The 27-year-old was well known in Saudi Arabia as a writer on jihadist themes and a talented

  fundraiser. Bin Laden, ‘the Sheikh’, had invited him to Afghanistan to interview Mullah Omar and other leaders for a book about the Taliban. Were he to write

  favourably, Saudi donors might be convinced to increase their support, both for the Taliban and, by extension, for the Taliban’s honoured guests, Al Qaeda.




  That support had until now not been forthcoming. Many inside the Saudi clerical establishment criticized the Taliban for confusing Pashtun tribal custom with Sharia law, and censured Mullah Omar

  for assuming without authority the title ‘Commander of the Faithful’, an historic honorific of great religious significance.1 They were now

  counselling would-be mujahideen to avoid the ‘Afghan inferno’ and not to send money Bin Laden’s way. Bin Laden hoped Ayiri could help turn the situation around.




  Ayiri and Bin Laden had first met about ten years before. Ayiri came from a rich and prominent Saudi family but, encouraged by his businessman father, dropped out of high school in 1989 and, at

  the age of just seventeen, went to Afghanistan. He trained at Camp Farouq, one of the country’s most important jihadist training camps, where he caught Bin Laden’s eye and was invited

  into his circle. Back then Al Qaeda was little more than a database of names of independent jihadists and a list of financial backers known as ‘the Golden Chain’. Ayiri served as the

  Sheikh’s bodyguard and fought in Somalia under one of his top lieutenants, but in late 1993 he decided to return to his family in Saudi Arabia. Shortly thereafter, he fell out of touch with

  his former employer.




  From afar, Ayiri watched as the Sheikh’s profile grew. Bin Laden was rumoured to be behind the bombing of the offices of the Vinnell Corporation in Riyadh in 1995 as well as an

  assassination attempt against Hosni Mubarak, the Egyptian president, later that same year. Then in 1998, Al Qaeda truly exploded onto the world stage. Bin Laden’s operatives launched

  coordinated bomb attacks on the American embassies in Nairobi and Dar es Salaam, killing 212 people – including twelve Americans – and wounding over four

  thousand. To those Saudi Arabians who had been fed a diet of fundamentalism and anti-Americanism by the religious authorities, Bin Laden was a star. Finally, someone was hitting America where it

  hurt.




  Meanwhile, Ayiri had turned his hand to fundraising for jihad. His family’s status granted him access to the Kingdom’s prominent clerics and wealthy families. But the climate for

  fundraising was changing. In the 1980s, raising money for the Afghan campaign against the Soviets had not only been very popular, it had official sanction and was carried out openly. But when that

  jihad ended, the government was landed with hundreds of trained militants full of extremist ideas, and Bin Laden’s activities alerted it to how dangerous jihadist ideology had become.




  This was confirmed in February 1998, when government forces discovered a terrorist cell near the Yemeni border which was planning to attack the American consulate in Jeddah with Sagger anti-tank

  missiles. Around eighty well-known jihadists were arrested, and pressure was put on clerics to de-emphasize jihad in their preaching.2 From then on,

  fundraisers like Ayiri had to be circumspect. Their outward focus shifted to humanitarian aims such as providing food and medicine. Covertly, much of this money was still channelled to militants,

  including Al Qaeda.




  Despite these obstacles, Ayiri had become a respected figure, adept at networking with hard-line clerics and encouraging them to speak in favour of jihad. And as the international community

  became more vocal in their opposition to the Taliban, Ayiri became more inclined to lend the movement his support.




  That is when Bin Laden got back in touch and, shortly after, Ayiri found himself underneath a blood-red moon in Kandahar.




  Ironically, the Sheikh himself was not there. The Taliban’s leader Mullah Omar, a simple but uncompromising man from a peasant background, was

  finding his guest to be more trouble than he had anticipated.




  When the Saudi billionaire’s son arrived back in 1996 – stripped of most of his personal wealth and in exile from both his own homeland and from his previous base in Sudan –

  Mullah Omar was on the verge of consolidating his control over most of the country. Within two months, he had captured Jalalabad, where Bin Laden and his Arab supporters were staying. ‘You

  are not just our guests and we your servants,’ a Taliban government minister said to them. ‘Rather, we serve the ground you walk upon.’3

  Mullah Omar supplied Bin Laden with the perfect environment for expanding Al Qaeda’s operations. In exchange for this freedom, Bin Laden gave him his allegiance and backed up his claims to

  the title of Commander of the Faithful. He also provided him with experienced fighters and helped broker the defection of some warlords from the Northern Alliance to the Taliban.4




  However, before long the bloom was off the rose. In 1997, Bin Laden gave an interview to CNN. ‘By being loyal to the American regime,’ he said, ‘the Saudi regime has committed

  an act against Islam. Sharia law rules that this casts them outside the religious community.’5 The royal family was outraged, and after the discovery

  of the Sagger missile plot the next year, they extracted a promise from Mullah Omar that he would expel Bin Laden. It was a promise he would not keep, but alienating one of the three countries in

  the world that had granted him formal recognition had not been pleasant.




  Then in early 1998, Bin Laden issued a fatwa against the United States, his second. He was by then living outside Kandahar in an austere collection of buildings next to the airport. ‘The

  ruling to kill Americans and their allies – civilian and military – is an individual duty for every able-bodied Muslim in any country possible,’ he wrote.6 A few months later, he made good on this by orchestrating the embassy bombings in East Africa, which provoked the United States to respond by

  launching Operation Infinite Reach. Cruise missiles were fired at four Afghan training camps, including the infamous Camp Farouq.7 Estimates differ as to

  how many people were killed, but the number was not great, and, because he had left one of the camps hours before, Bin Laden himself was unscathed. However, the missile strikes taught Mullah Omar

  that his guest could attract unwelcome attention.




  American and Saudi pressure on the Taliban continued to increase. Bin Laden escaped several clumsy assassination attempts attributed to the Saudi intelligence services, and even the

  Taliban’s staunch ally Pakistan began to wobble.8 Then, just before Ayiri’s arrival in July 2000, Mullah Omar grew worried that the Americans

  had discovered the location of Bin Laden’s hideout outside Kandahar and, fearing another missile strike, asked Bin Laden to leave.




  In a motorcade of fifty well-armoured cars, the Sheikh and a few hundred followers snaked their way northward across the Hindu Kush towards the mountainous river valleys of Bamyan

  Province.9 In his remote hideout, Bin Laden returned to the ascetic life of the anti-Soviet jihad. It was how he preferred it.




  Though it can never be known for certain, it is believed that Ayiri travelled on to Bamyan to meet Bin Laden.10 On the journey he

  would have passed by the area’s famed giant statues of the Buddha, built before Islam when Buddhism was the predominant religion in the region. They reminded him of the ever-present threat of

  idolatry, and he would celebrate eight months later when, to the sound of a great international outcry, they were dynamited; local Afghans reported that Bin Laden had goaded Mullah Omar into taking

  this action.11 What would have seemed scarcely less scandalous to Ayiri was the fact that most residents of Bamyan were now Shi’ite Muslims, hated

  by hard-line Sunnis like himself.




  At the camp, Ayiri embraced the Sheikh. The last time they saw each other, Bin Laden was a fugitive in Sudan. Now he was an international celebrity and the great hope of

  Muslims everywhere. Ayiri also met the Sheikh’s top advisers. In excited whispers they spoke of a man in Yemen who was putting the finishing touches to what Bin Laden was calling the

  ‘boats operation’, a plan to attack American naval vessels off the Yemeni coast. There was something else as well, rumoured to be even bigger, called the ‘planes operation’.

  But Ayiri must have wondered why he had been summoned.




  The Sheikh explained. The vast majority of the top men surrounding the Sheikh were Egyptians; a minority were from Yemen, either native-born or, like Bin Laden himself, born in western Saudi

  Arabia to Yemeni families. This presented Bin Laden with a tactical problem. To galvanize support for Al Qaeda in Saudi Arabia, he would need a genuine Saudi working for him on the ground. This was

  especially important because he had burnt his bridges with the Kingdom’s official religious establishment. ‘They have aggrandized themselves with the sultan’s money,’ he had

  once written. ‘The sultan’s status has made them arrogant. They have been protected by his oppression and, in order to entrench the infidels in the Arabian Peninsula, they have [ . . .]

  written fatwas permitting what God has proscribed.’12 However, his reputation among the rank and file of Saudi Muslims was very high, and in order

  to get them more actively involved he would need religious sanction from well-respected clerics outside the establishment. As a proven networker among the Kingdom’s dissident clerical

  community, Ayiri could help him get it.




  Bin Laden also knew that Ayiri possessed the qualities of a senior leader and was ideally suited for what Bin Laden ultimately had in mind for Saudi Arabia. Up until now, the Kingdom had mainly

  been a base for fundraising and recruitment. There were jihadists already working there, as the uncovered missile plot made clear, but they were not organized. They would

  need to be. Because if Al Qaeda was to well and truly kick the United States out of the region, then the Peninsula’s largest and most important country would have to have a fully operational

  Al Qaeda network of its own.




  Ayiri was the man to set one up.




  Around the time of Ayiri’s visit to Afghanistan, an unknown Al Qaeda member writing from Saudi Arabia under the pen name Abu Hudhayfa sent Bin Laden a long

  letter.13 It is an invaluable source for understanding Al Qaeda’s aims inside the country at that time, and can reasonably stand in for an agenda

  of the points Bin Laden covered during his conversation with Ayiri. Certainly, once back in the Kingdom, Ayiri would put in place every one of the letter’s recommendations.




  What was Bin Laden’s intention behind forming a Saudi branch of Al Qaeda? Abu Hudhayfa asks the same question. ‘Is the Movement,’ he writes, meaning Al Qaeda inside the

  Kingdom, ‘a tactical transitional pressure group only, or a substitute for the present regime via a coup d’état?’ That is, was Bin Laden seeking to reform the

  Saudi establishment, or did he want to overthrow it? Abu Hudhayfa makes his own preference absolutely clear. ‘As for the struggle with the Saudi system, it is a war,’ he writes.

  ‘Tactical victories will be limited and ineffective if they do not lead to a decisive strategic victory by removing the system at its very roots.’ Total revolution, then, is what they

  were after. The lure of controlling the Land of the Two Holy Mosques and the world’s largest oil reserves did not need mentioning.




  Abu Hudhayfa then describes what needs to happen if ‘the Movement’ is to succeed. First, an ‘informational machine’ needs to be put in place to counter the way the

  Movement is being portrayed by the Saudi regime and the international media. This propaganda programme must fight back by also attacking the regime’s legitimacy: the

  House of Saud’s failings need to be drummed into people’s heads. Propaganda should also celebrate martyrdom operations. Those who kill themselves in the name of Islam need to become

  household names. The letter specifically mentions Hamas as worthy of emulation in this regard. Finally, the Movement needs a website. This is stated in no uncertain terms.




  Second, the Movement requires a ‘political machine’ – i.e. the capability to launch military operations. The political machine should be kept separate from the informational

  machine, although their goals will be harmonized. The operatives should all be Saudis, both to prevent the government from characterizing the Movement as an example of foreign aggression and to get

  the Saudi people on side. The letter’s unspoken assumption is that, while the informational machine will teach people to hate the regime, the political machine will actively recruit and train

  them.




  After building up the Saudi people’s confidence in jihad; after puffing them up with a sense of their own valour and instilling in them a hatred of the Saudi system; after launching

  attacks on Western targets to undermine the regime’s image of invincibility, ‘removing the fig leaf covering its genitals’; after extending those attacks both horizontally by

  covering more ground and vertically by assassinating prominent members of the establishment; after all this, what then? ‘Once we have escalated the number of operations against the Crusader

  enemy, at a certain critical point the mujahideen commander will declare war on the whole Saudi system.’ The people will then rise up and overthrow the government.




  Ayiri accepted the Sheikh’s commission and flew home, confident that all this would come to pass according to God’s will.




  In Karachi fourteen months later, Abdul Rahim al-Nashiri lay in bed with an acute case of tonsillitis. The ear, nose, and throat doctors

  of the Liaquat National Hospital did not know they were harbouring one of the world’s most-wanted terrorists. On the Sheikh’s orders, the 36-year-old had been planning another terrorist

  attack in the Arabian Peninsula. Now, recovering from surgery and unable to speak, Nashiri was alone with only his thoughts for company.




  Nashiri was an operations guy; although legally a Saudi, he was in fact a Yemeni and his fierce temper was legendary. He first signed up for jihad in 1995 and had been on his way to the

  Tajikistan campaign when his brigade was turned away at the Afghan–Tajik border and redirected to a training camp near Khost called Jihad Wahl. There they met Bin Laden, who gave them a

  lecture on America’s ‘occupation’ of the Arabian Peninsula and introduced them to Al Qaeda. ‘You have a duty to expel them,’ Bin Laden said. ‘It is what the

  Prophet ordered.’14 Most of Nashiri’s fellow mujahideen disagreed with Bin Laden and left without swearing him their allegiance. Nashiri,

  however, stayed. He became so committed to Bin Laden’s project that it was said he would happily plan a terrorist attack in Mecca were it deemed necessary; indeed, inside the holy Kaaba

  itself.15




  As a first step, Nashiri was sent to Yemen to build up a network of arms smugglers. He was the one behind the thwarted Sagger missile plot in February 1998, and, impressed with his total

  commitment, Bin Laden put him in charge of the ‘boats operation’. However, his first naval bombing attempt, against the USS The Sullivans in January 2000, was a dismal failure.

  The overloaded attack boat got stuck on a sand bank and had to be abandoned.




  The screw-up so shook the Sheikh’s faith in him that just before his second attempt the following October, this time against the USS Cole in Aden harbour, Nashiri was ordered to

  abort the operation and come to Afghanistan for a re-think. But he went over the Sheikh’s head and told his operatives to launch anyway. Fortunately for him, the

  bombing scored seventeen American lives for Al Qaeda, and Nashiri became the man of the hour. To the FBI, which led the investigation into the Cole bombing, Nashiri was second only to Bin

  Laden on America’s hit list.




  The Cole attack went to Nashiri’s head. Some of his Al Qaeda colleagues were annoyed that he took all the credit for its success and would not even acknowledge the two suicide

  bombers who had actually carried it out.16 His ego was further inflated when Bin Laden chose to base Al Qaeda’s first-ever recruitment video around

  the Cole. The video was extremely popular among young Muslims, and though it did not mention Nashiri by name, he knew his reputation had been given a big boost among the people who

  mattered.




  Bin Laden further rewarded Nashiri by giving him an even bigger target: oil tankers in the Strait of Hormuz. Thirty-five per cent of the world’s petroleum passes through that narrow

  stretch of water, and a successful bombing would be a bold statement. The Sheikh gave him a pile of money and sent him to Karachi to put the operation together. That’s when his tonsils flared

  up and he was forced to go under the knife.




  Nashiri stared at the ceiling and ran through his to-do list. He needed to get in touch with his operatives in the UAE who were reconnoitring the Strait and looking for a suitable fishing boat

  to wire up with explosives. He also needed to wrap his head around the boat registration process, to make sure that did not rouse suspicion. And there was still his honey-making business in Yemen

  to think about.




  He did not know it yet, but Nashiri’s plans were small fry compared to what was unfolding on TV screens across the world. He was but one cog in a much larger machine, and by the time the

  sun set on that fateful day, he would be as stunned as anyone at the enormity of the Sheikh’s ambitions.




  The date was 11 September 2001.




  Nashiri cut short his recuperation and went in haste to Kabul. It was clear to everyone that America would soon invade. The Taliban had allowed Al Qaeda

  to operate freely on Afghan soil for five years, and though they formally condemned the 9/11 attacks, they also denied that Osama bin Laden had been behind them and refused to hand him over.

  ‘I will not hand over a Muslim to an infidel,’ Mullah Omar declared. Islamic groups across the world, including Hamas and the Muslim Brotherhood, warned the United States that attacking

  Afghanistan would oblige Muslims to seek revenge and urged the Muslim world to unite against ‘American aggression’.17




  Young Muslim men were already on their way to take up arms in defence of the Taliban. Most of them were Saudis like Nashiri. Bin Laden was increasingly popular amongst Saudis; an American

  intelligence report written just after 9/11 purportedly based on a Saudi intelligence survey claimed that 95 per cent of the population were sympathetic to Bin Laden’s cause.18 The government denied the figure was that high, but no one questioned the fact that hundreds of young Saudis were proving themselves ready and willing to fly to

  Bin Laden’s side. They would join the several hundred others who had arrived earlier that summer. Al Qaeda’s training camps were full to bursting.




  When Nashiri arrived in Kabul, he found the Sheikh full of good cheer. The 9/11 attacks had been a phenomenal success and it was clear to everyone that God was on their side. The impending

  invasion would be a disaster for America, he thought. The ‘graveyard of empires’ would claim another victim, as it had claimed the Soviet Union in the 1980s and the British before that.

  That is what Afghanistan did; it fast-forwarded imperial decline and fall.




  The Sheikh and his men were full of exultation. However, Nashiri and other prominent Al Qaeda operatives would soon realize that their confidence was misplaced. American bombs began falling on

  Afghanistan on 7 October and the Northern Alliance, reinforced by US Special Forces and aerial support, was unstoppable. In a matter of weeks, Al Qaeda would be confronted

  with an existential crisis.




  The Taliban swiftly lost ground. The northeastern city of Mazar-e-Sharif fell to the Northern Alliance on 10 November, and four days later Kabul was on the verge of

  succumbing.




  Fleeing the capital under cover of darkness, Al Qaeda split into two equal groups. The Sheikh and his deputy Ayman al-Zawahiri headed for Jalalabad. There they would be near Tora Bora and its

  ferociously inaccessible network of caves, bunkers, and hidden trails, where the Soviet Union had once met its match. There were perhaps eight hundred fighters with them, but cracks in their morale

  were already apparent and many of them were agitating to return home.




  In the second group, Nashiri followed several top commanders and eight hundred Al Qaeda fighters to Kandahar, where much of the Taliban leadership had regrouped. He had been advised by the

  Sheikh to leave Afghanistan and continue planning the Strait of Hormuz attack. But not far from the city, a large force of Northern Alliance fighters and US Marines were preparing to finish off the

  Taliban once and for all. There was no easy way out of the country.




  However, they did not despair. Certainly Nashiri remained confident. During those tense few days in Kandahar, he met up with an extremely high-level Al Qaeda operative called Khalid

  Sheikh Muhammad, known in intelligence circles as KSM. Like Nashiri, KSM was an operations guy; they were doers, not thinkers.




  Rotund and wildly hirsute, KSM had more than a little madness behind his eyes. An ethnic Baluch born in Pakistan and raised in Kuwait, he had gone to university in the United States but the

  experience did not endear him to the country and soon he was moving in jihadist circles. He arranged financing for the 1993 World Trade Center bombing and formed links to

  jihadists throughout South and Southeast Asia. He was initially reluctant to become a member of Al Qaeda. Not known for his piety, he had a fiercely independent streak; ‘more swashbuckler

  than Islamist’ was how one American analyst described him.19 But by 1999 he was already working with the Sheikh on the plot that would become 9/11

  – a plot which he himself had dreamed up – and finally swore him his allegiance. He was given a pseudonym: Mukhtar, ‘the Chosen One’.




  In their Kandahar safe house, Nashiri raised the topic of the Strait of Hormuz attack, but KSM wanted to talk about much more. Hot-headed and ambitious, KSM had been nursing a whole host of

  attack ideas, and was eager to reveal them to Nashiri. He wanted to bomb ships in the Strait of Gibraltar and aeroplanes at Heathrow airport; he had devised a plot to hide explosives inside video

  game cartridges; and he was in touch with chemical experts on an anthrax programme. Nashiri listened intently, but their conversations were cut short when, at the end of November or beginning of

  December, they and the other fighters in Kandahar were forced to retreat once more. This time they went to Zurmat, fifty kilometres from the Pakistani border.




  Word reached them that things were not going well for the Sheikh in Tora Bora. He seemed convinced that death was imminent, and had started making arrangements to ferry his wife and children to

  safety. On top of that, his military chief Muhammad Atef, also known as Abu Hafs al-Masri, effectively the man who ran Al Qaeda’s day-to-day operations, had been killed in a missile strike on

  his house in Kabul. It was a huge loss. Then on 3 December the United States began a relentless and devastating bombing campaign. For four straight days, over 700,000 pounds of explosives were

  dropped on the mountains. The Sheikh, certain that all was lost, ordered the Saudis who were with him to return home. ‘I am sorry for getting you into this

  battle,’ he said. ‘If you are unable to resist, then you have my blessing to surrender.’20 He handed each of them one hundred dollars

  and disappeared with a few bodyguards into the mountains.




  Getting out of Afghanistan was at the top of Nashiri’s list too. However, Al Qaeda’s leadership was in total disarray and before the men in Zurmat could leave, decisions had to be

  taken about the future of the movement. The most senior commander there was Saif al-Adel. Very few men were closer to the Sheikh. A former Egyptian Special Forces officer and

  explosives expert, Adel was much more than a mere operative. His valour in battle was proven, and he had been working for Bin Laden as a mujahideen trainer and commander continually since 1988. As

  a patient, long-term tactician who never took his eye off the ultimate prize, Adel typified the qualities Bin Laden looked for in a leader. Their mutual trust was such that in July, fearing the

  response they might engender would be disastrous, Adel had felt free to argue against launching the 9/11 attacks.21




  Sometime in the middle of December, Adel convened a meeting with those members of Bin Laden’s council of advisers – known as a Shura Council in Arabic – who were in Zurmat. As

  Al Qaeda’s most important operative, KSM was also invited. It is not known if Nashiri attended, but it is likely. Adel announced to the gathering that the Sheikh had asked him to take

  Muhammad Atef’s place as military chief.22 ‘Al Qaeda can no longer afford to be overt, or to operate in the way we have been,’ he told

  them. ‘We have no choice but to spread out once again throughout the world.’23 The fighters were to return to their home countries as best

  they could. For most this meant Saudi Arabia. KSM was to go to Karachi and continue developing operations targeting American interests internationally. Nashiri was to liaise with KSM there and

  continue with the Strait of Hormuz operation.




  Adel himself would be departing soon for Riyadh.24 He revealed that for over a year a key operative inside the Kingdom –

  Yusuf al-Ayiri – had been laying the foundations of an Al Qaeda network there, the reins of which Adel would shortly take up. Adel was a cautious man and in no great rush to start blowing

  things up. He knew it was vital that everything be ready before the order to launch was given. Nonetheless, the time had come, he explained, to move forward with Al Qaeda’s long-term aim:

  overthrowing the Saudi royal family.




  Bearing all this in mind, Nashiri left Zurmat with a group of about fifteen fighters. The road to Karachi would not be an easy one. It swarmed with CIA agents, Pakistani intelligence, and tribal

  leaders in the pay of the Americans, all looking for fleeing mujahideen with prices on their heads.




  As for Adel, he took the western route to Arabia – through Iran. Two years before, he had helped that country’s Sunni jihadist underground set up a network of Iranian hostels to

  house mujahideen from Turkey, Syria, and Iraq on their way to Afghanistan.25 Now he was fleeing in the opposite direction. He was met at the border and,

  after renting several flats, started making further travel arrangements.26 He sent an operative to Riyadh with his personal effects and promised to join

  him there as soon as he could.




  Back home in Saudi Arabia, Ayiri had been living a double life. In the eyes of the public he was the scion of a rich family, a veteran mujahid, and a pious fundraiser for

  jihad. He was well liked and his fervour was impressive. It was claimed that he would burst into tears at the mere mention of Muslim suffering anywhere in the world. Inside the jihadist

  underground, however, he was known as a brilliant ideologue and military theorist, the author of several widely read books and pamphlets, and a regular participant in online discussion forums. To

  this second group of admirers, he was better known by his nom de plume: Al-Battar, ‘the Sabre’.




  Upon returning from his meeting with Bin Laden the year before, the Sabre had got to work fulfilling his orders. Because he was extremely good at covering his tracks,

  specific information about Ayiri’s activities during this period is difficult to come by. He first concentrated on getting his clerical contacts to shift their focus from Chechnya to

  Afghanistan, ostensibly to defend the Taliban but in fact in order to fill Bin Laden’s coffers. This was necessary because most Saudi donors, and especially the wealthy ones, refused to

  donate to religious causes unless given assurances that they were in compliance with Sharia law. However, Ayiri’s efforts were temporarily suspended in March 2001 when, driving to Mecca for a

  conference call he had set up between Mullah Omar and an influential sheikh, he crashed his car into a camel. Publications sympathetic to Bin Laden were discovered in the wrecked car, and as Ayiri

  was a known extremist, he was taken in for questioning and held in prison.27




  It was not the first time. In June 1994, while actively raising money for the Bosnian jihad, he was rounded up with hundreds of others during a government crackdown on clerics agitating against

  the government, and spent a month behind bars. He was rearrested in July 1996 and held for much longer as part of another crackdown, this one following the terrorist bombing of Khobar Towers, an

  American army barracks in the eastern city of Dhahran, which killed nineteen Americans.




  According to his Al Qaeda associates, during this second incarceration Ayiri was tortured so mercilessly by the Saudi security services that he considered confessing involvement in the bombing,

  despite his innocence.28 At his own request, he was put in solitary confinement – a request he was so desperate to see granted that he went on

  hunger strike to ensure it. In the words of Ayiri’s biographer, ‘In that prison cell, he did nothing but read and memorize books. He memorized the Qur’an and the sayings of the

  Prophet. Once a soldier said to him, “I pity you!” “By God, it is I who pity you!” Ayiri replied. “If someone told me the day had twenty-eight

  hours, it would surely gladden me. I am always searching for more time!”’29




  Upon leaving prison in June 1998, Ayiri the warrior had become Ayiri the religious scholar. He returned to his home province of Qaseem, married the sister of a well-connected extremist cleric,

  and launched his writing career.30 Over the following years he produced thousands of pages of written material, and before long people were calling him

  ‘sheikh’. He also restarted his fundraising activities, this time for the jihads in the Balkans and Chechnya, and travelled to jihad fronts in Europe and Asia. That was all before Bin

  Laden called and he began working full-time for Al Qaeda.




  After the camel incident, he spent just under three months in prison.31 The authorities did not know that the Sabre, whose fierce polemics against the

  Americans and the royal family had put him on their radar, was in fact Ayiri. Released in April 2001, he built up a team of fundraisers to take slick promotional materials to the homes of rich men

  and organize fundraising rallies to whip the masses into a frenzy of giving. He was also quick to see the usefulness of the Internet for getting the word out. One of Ayiri’s recruits was a

  former Chechnya enthusiast and baby-faced PR whiz called Isa al-Awshen. Together they set up Al-Nida (‘The Summons’), the closest thing Al Qaeda had to an

  official website. It featured publications from the Centre for Islamic Research and Study, an informal jihadist ‘think tank’ Ayiri had founded. His own book in praise of the 9/11

  attacks appeared on the site in October 2001.
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